67509.5

NO. <u>67516-8-1</u> CONSOLIDATED NO. 67509-5-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,



Respondent,

APR 1 6 2012

v.

King County Prosecutor Appellate Unit

DARA KHANN. Appe

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable John P. Erlick, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ERIC J. NIELSEN

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

•

1. The court erred in denying appellant's motion to suppress the evidence found by police as a result of an illegal seizure.

 The court erred in entering conclusions of law B. 3 and 4.
 CP 138-139 (Written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on CrR 3.6 Motion to Suppress).

3. The court erred in denying appellant's motion to sever his trial from his co-defendants' trial.

4. There was insufficient evidence to support the firearm special verdicts.

Issue Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Police may not stop and detain individuals without a warrant unless they have particularized reasonable suspicion of criminal conduct. Following the report of a crime, police broadcasted a very vague description of the suspects. The description described the suspects as Asian males in their mid-20's wearing dark clothes. Hours later a police officer stopped a car in which appellant was a passenger because the car's occupants stared at the officer and they were Asian males wearing dark clothes although they appeared younger than the mid-20's. Was the seizure unsupported by particularized reasonable suspicion of criminal activity? 3. Did the court err when it denied appellant's motion to sever his trial from his co-defendants' trial where appellant's right to a fair trail was prejudiced by the disparity in evidence?

4. Where there was no evidence the gun allegedly used in the commission of the crimes was operable was there sufficient evidence to support the jury's firearm special verdicts?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹</u>

.

1. <u>Procedural History</u>

The King County Prosecutor charged Dara Khann, Kevin Volante and Michael Martinez-Copol² each by amended information with one count of first degree burglary (Count I), one count of first degree rape (Count II) and one count of first degree robbery (Count III). CP 123-125. Each count also alleged each defendant was armed with a firearm. CP 124-125. All three were jointly tried.

¹ There are 26 volumes of the verbatim report of proceedings. The verbatim report of proceedings are cited as follows: 1RP refers to the verbatim report of proceedings for 2/11/2011; 2RP--2/18/2011; 3RP--3/1/2011; 3RP--3/4/2011; 4RP--3/4/2011; 5RP--3/25/2011; 6RP--6/7/2011; 7RP--6/8/2011; 8RP--6/9/2011; 9RP--6/13/2011; 10RP--6/14/2011; 11RP--6/15/2011; 12RP--6/16/2011; 13RP--6/17/2011; 14RP--6/20/2011; 15RP--6/21/2011; 16RP--6/27/2011; 17RP--6/28/2011; 18RP--6/29/2011; 19RP--6/30/2011; 20RP--7/5/2011; 21RP--7/6/2011; 22RP--7/7/2011; 23RP--7/11/2011; 24RP--7/12/2011; 25RP--7/13/2011; 26RP--7/14/2011 and 7/29/2011.

 $^{^{2}}$ Martinez-Copol is also known as Juan Machado and he will be referred to as Machado here as he was at trial.

A jury found Khann guilty as charged. It also found by special verdict he was armed with firearm during the commission of each crime. CP 167-171.

The court found the first degree burglary and the first degree robbery was the same course of conduct for sentencing purposes. Khann was sentenced to a total of 291 months. CP 293-304. Based on an offender score of 2, Khann was ordered to serve concurrent standard range sentences of 34 months for the burglary, 54 months for the robbery and a minimum of 111 months for the rape. <u>Id</u>. In addition, Khann was ordered to serve 60 months for each of the firearm verdicts, which the court ran consecutive with each other and the sentences for the underlying crimes. <u>Id</u>.

- 2. <u>Substantive Facts</u>
 - a. <u>State's Case</u>

C. H.³ lived in a house located at the end of a dirt road. 18RP 119. In the three months C.H. lived in the house it had been broken into twice while she was away and her car was stolen. 18RP 112-113, 117; 19RP 90. C.H. hired a man named Gunn and his helper to make the house more secure, including installing metal doors and changing the hardware on the

³ The victim is referred to by her initials.

doors. 18RP 113-115, 19RP 88. Because of the work being done to the house its alarm system was not operational. 18RP 114.

In the finished basement of the house there was a bedroom, living room and bathroom. 18RP 121. Early in the morning on August 11, 2010, C.H. was asleep in the basement bedroom when she heard the sound of glass breaking upstairs. 18RP 124, 132. She then heard someone running down the stairs and a man, who she described at trial as a stocky built Asian about 22 years old with brown or black hair pulled back in a ponytail, dressed in black and wearing a hooded sweat shirt, came into the room and pointed a silver and black gun in her face. 18 RP 134-137, 139. Another man soon appeared, who was about 18 years old and slim with short hair and lighter skin than the first man. 18 RP 138. The second man also had a gun that C.H. described as black and larger than the first man's gun. 18RP 139.

C.H. started to yell and the men told her to shut up. 18RP 136, 143. The second man jumped on the bed, grabbed her neck and pushed her head into the bed's headboard. 18RP 142. The man immediately duct taped her face, including her eyes, so she could not see anything. 18RP 143-144, 146. C.H. panicked and screamed. She then heard footsteps and was hit on the head with a gun. <u>Id</u>. She believed a third man hit her. 18RP 145.

-4-

After she was hit with the gun C.H. felt "woozy" and her hands and feet were then taped as well. The tape slipped off her hands so the men tied her hands with a cell phone charger cord. 18RP 149-150. C.H. thought she heard the man with the ponytail say, "we finally got her." She also heard movement upstairs. 18RP 152-153. One of the men asked C.H. about her other house in Kent, but she had never lived in Kent. 21RP 106.

The younger man, whom she identified as the one who taped her, told C.H. he had to check her for weapons and he commented that she looked good. 18RP 154-155. The man put his hand under her shirt, touched her breasts, and then touched her genitals inside her panties. 18RP 155-156. The man told C.H. if she cooperated they would not kill her. 18RP 160. He stopped when she heard one of the other men tell him to shut up. <u>Id</u>.

One of the men then asked C.H. if she had any drugs or money. 18RP 161. She told him she had two hundred dollars in her purse and a hundred dollars in a drawer. 18RP 161-162. When the men could not find the money in the drawer, she told them to look in her eyeglass case. There they found the money. <u>Id</u>. C.H. testified at trial that in addition to the money, the men took two cell phones, a Playstation 3 game system and a Louis Vuitton travel bag. 19RP 48. Although C.H. had a number of valuable items in the house, including jewelry, and another \$1,000 in cash, the men did not take any of that, which C.H. thought was strange. 21RP 105-107.

At some point the man who previously touched C.H. said he had to check her for weapons again. 18RP 163. C.H. was on her side. The man laid down behind her and began rubbing her breasts and touching her underneath her panties. When she told him to stop he asked if she thought he was going to rape her. 18RP 164-165, 168. Although one of the other men said "let's go" the man on the bed got up, pulled C.H.'s shirt over her head, and her panties down. C.H., who was now on her stomach, felt someone on top of her and what she thought was one person's hands spreading her butt cheeks while someone else put their fingers inside her vagina. 18RP 169-172. She also said it felt like a different person also put his fingers inside her. 18RP 173-174. One of the men told her not to move or they would kill her. The man with the ponytail took her knife, which she had close by, and told her he did not want her to get any ideas. 18RP 175-177.

The men then left. About a minute later C.H. was able to look down through the tape on her eyes. She saw her knife, cut her legs free, pulled the tape down from her eyes onto her neck and ran out the back door. 18RP 178-181. When she got outside she saw her car, a BMW,

-6-

drive away. The man she described as having the short hair, was sitting in the backseat. He turned and looked at her. 18 RP 183-185.

At trial C.H. identified Khann as the man with the short hair. 19RP 37, 50. She identified Volante as the man with the ponytail wearing a hooded sweatshirt. 19RP 37-38, 139. She said Volante was the first man that came into her room with the silver and black gun and was the man who later picked up the knife. 19RP 64,71.

When C.H. was shown a photograph of Khann taken when he was arrested later that morning, and the photograph showed Khann had a ponytail, C.H. admitted she might have been wrong about Volante being the man with the ponytail. She maintained, however, Volante was the first man who came into her room with the gun. 19RP 70-71, 92, 108. Also, although she previously testified the second man who came into her room had short hair and that was the man she saw sitting in the back seat of her car, she said that man was Khann. 19RP 92, 100, 136-137. C.H. admitted she told police and the defense investigator she was positive the man who sexually assaulted her had short hair. 19RP 135-136, 143.

C.H. ran to her neighbor's house after the men drove off in her car. 18RP 187. The neighbor, Albert Williams, was leaving for work and he saw C.H.'s car leave with three people inside. 16RP 165-166. C.H. ran towards him. She was naked and had duct tape on her hands and round her neck. 16RP 168-169. She told him three men had robbed and raped her. 16RP 170. Williams woke his wife and gave C.H. his phone to call 911. 16RP 171.

Williams' wife, Pamela Williams, stayed with C.H. until police arrived. 17RP 41. After her call to 911, C.H. made another phone call and was screaming to the person on the phone to help her. 17RP 44. C.H. admitted that after she spoke with the 911 operator she called a friend and her boyfriend. 19RP 121.

At about 2:55 a.m., deputies Travis Thomas and Mark Silverstein arrived at C.H.'s house. 12RP 34-36. Silverstein met Albert Williams outside C.H.'s house then he and Thomas went inside and down the basement to C.H.'s bedroom where they found her sitting on a couch. 12RP 45, 20RP 80. Silverstein did not remember having any contact with Pamela Williams. 20RP 84.

Thomas and Silverstein removed the duct tape from C.H.'s neck and on the floor found more duct tape, a roll of duct tape and a knife, which was near the couch. 20RP 84-85, 90. C.H. told the officers that three Asian males came into her room with guns. 12RP 51-52. C.H. described the men as about 25 years old. One had short hair and the other was heavier set with a ponytail. Both were wearing dark clothing. 12 RP 80, 20RP 96. She said she did not see the third man. 12RP 80, 20RP 95, 99. That vague description of C.H.'s assailants was broadcast to other officers. 12RP 55, 16RP 38,75.

Shortly before 4:00 a.m. that same morning, police were dispatched to a gas station about 15 minutes from C.H.'s house. The station's clerk reported a car had been abandoned at one of the pumps. The car was C.H.'s stolen BMW. 14RP 18-19, 47. At 3:16 a.m. a man gave the clerk a twenty-dollar bill for gas, pumped gas into the car and then left, leaving the car at the pump. 14RP 24,37,41,51; 16RP 118-119. The clerk described the man as in his late 20's or early 30's with medium length hair, medium build and wearing a long sleeved jacket. 16RP 138-139, 148.

Police looked at the station's surveillance video but it did not show a clear image of the man. A tracking dog was brought to the gas station but the dog was unable to locate a scent. 14RP 24,68, 19RP 184-85. Police did not try to obtain fingerprints from the gas pump. 14RP 42, 44, 46.

Deputy Daniel Murphy was on patrol and driving through the area near the gas station. He began looking for men who matched the vague description that was broadcast earlier. 16RP 40-42. A few blocks from the gas station, on S. 118th St. and Des Moines Memorial Drive, Murphy saw a Cadillac waiting a stop sign. 14 RP 20; 16 RP 42. He noticed three

-9-

Asian or Pacific Island looking males in the car wearing dark clothes. 16RP 46. As the car passed, its occupants stared at Murphy so he made a U-turn and followed the car. While following the car he saw the occupants moving around inside. The car eventually rolled through a stop sign and Murphy stopped it. 16RP 46-49, 51-55.

Machado was the driver and Volante and Khann were passengers. 16RP 57-59. On the back seat Murphy saw a Kitchen knife. 16RP 56, 73. Another officer who arrived to assist Murphy saw the butt of a gun under the front passenger seat. 16RP 59-60; 19RP 129. Machado, Volante and Khann were handcuffed and placed in separate patrol cars. Machado only had about \$74 in his pockets; Volante had no money, and Khann only a few dollars. 14RP 104, 129, 137.

In the meantime, Pamela Williams was outside C.H.'s house with officers Travis and Silverstein when they were contacted and asked to bring C.H. to where Khann, Volante and Machado were stopped for a one-on-one showup. One of the officers appeared happy, they gave each other a "high five", and Williams heard one say, "we got them." 17RP 66. Williams accompanied the officers back into the house. One of them told C.H. they "got the three dudes." 17RP 67.

Both C.H. and the gas station clerk were brought in separate patrol cars to where the Cadillac was stopped. 16RP 60-61. Machado, Khann

-10-

and Volante were each taken out of the patrol cars they were in, one at a time, and a light was shined on them while C.H. and the gas station clerk viewed them from inside another patrol car. 12RP 72; 14RP 30-31; 16 RP 61-62. The clerk could not identify any of them as the man who paid for gas and left the BMW. 16RP 128. At trial the clerk also testified none of the three looked like the man. 16 RP 157-158.

Volante was the first person C.H. was shown. 18 RP 200; 21RP 94. Khann, who was 17 years old, had a ponytail, and was the thinnest of the three, was the third one shown to C.H. 12 RP 97-98. C.H. was unable to identify Volante but she identified Khann and Machado as two of the assailants. 12RP 77-78; 15RP 153; 18 RP 200; 21RP 94. C.H. was certain about her identification based on the men's clothing. 12RP 87. Although C.H. testified the man with the ponytail was wearing a hooded sweatshirt, Khann was not wearing a hooded sweatshirt. 19RP 70.

At trial, however, C.H. identified Volante and Khann as the assailants, despite her failure to identify Volante at the showup. She now said Volante was the man with the ponytail, even though Khann was the only one with a ponytail when the men were stopped. 19RP 37-38. When confronted by her inconsistent identifications, C.H. said at the showup she asked police repeatedly if they would let her hear Machado, Volante and

Khann's voices because she was convinced she could identify her assailants' voices. Police denied her request. 19RP 85-86.

Police did not find Khann, Volante or Machado's fingerprints in C.H.'s house, on the duct tape or in her BMW. 20RP 23-25, 61, 68-69. Although C.H. told police her assailants took money from an eyeglass case and from her purse, and that the man with the ponytail grabbed the knife in her room, police did not check the knife or eyeglass case for fingerprints and did not take the purse into evidence. 21RP 66-68, 70. The twenty-dollar bill given to the gas station clerk by the man who bought gas for the BMW likewise was not checked for fingerprints. 21RP 73.

C.H. said the black and silver gun found in the Cadillac looked like the gun carried by one of her assailants. 19RP 47. None of the items C.H. told police were taken from her house, however, were found in the Cadillac. 21RP 91. In the Cadillac was a Victoria Secret bag, some women's clothes, and some doorknobs. C.H. did not mention to police she was missing any clothes or doorknobs but at trial she testified the bag and clothes looked like hers and the doorknobs looked like the hardware that was being installed in her house. 19RP 41-46.

Khann, Volante and Machado's hands and clippings from their fingernails were swabbed and checked for DNA. C.H.'s DNA was found

-12-

on Volante's fingernail clippings. 17RP 140-141. Machado and C.H.'s DNA was found on Volante's fingers and hand. 17RP 128, 154. The scientist who performed the DNA tests opined it was possible Machado touched C.H. and then transferred her DNA to Volante or visa versa or that one of the officer's that touched C.H. transferred the DNA to Volante. 17RP 175-180.

In addition to police not finding Khann's fingerprints in C.H's house or on any of the physical evidence, none of C.H.'s DNA was found on Khann's hands, fingers or fingernails. 17 RP 119-120, 161. Moreover, none of Khann's DNA was found on the silver and black gun. 17RP 183.

After he was arrested, Machado initially told police he did not know there was a gun in his car or how it got there. He also denied he was at C.H.'s house. 15RP 118. After he was told evidence would show he was at the house, he admitted he was there and that he took the gun inside the house. 15RP 119-120-121. He said he went inside to get a television but instead took some video games. He claimed when he first saw C.H. she was lying on the floor. He denied hitting her with the gun, pointing a gun at her or sexually assaulting her. 21RP 37-56. He told police he was sorry he had gone into her house. 21RP 61.

b. Machado's Defense Case

Machado is 21 years old. 21RP 129. On August 10, 2010, Machado worked until early afternoon then went to a family barbeque at a park. 21RP 130-131. Later, he got a call from his son's mother asking for ride home from work so he left with his son to pick her up. He first took her grocery shopping and then he took her back to her house where he stayed. 21RP 131-132.

A few hours later Volante called Machado and asked Machado if he would drive him to a party. 21RP 132. Machado got to Volante's house at about 8:00 p.m. and took Volante and Khann, who was with Volante, to the party. 21RP 133. Machado was tired so he stayed at the party for about 15 minutes then went back home to sleep. 21RP 134.

Later, Machado got a call from his friend Big who also needed a ride. 21RP 134. Machado met Big, who was with another friend, Red, at a Walgreens in White Center. 21RP 135. Both Big and Red are Asian, between 20 and 26 years old. Machado said Big wears his hair in a ponytail. 21RP 135-136. The two had Machado drive them to the Skyway neighborhood. Machado stopped the car where Big and Red asked and the two got out and told Machado to wait. 21RP 137. The two men then walked down a dirt road. 21RP 138. Machado believed they

were on a quest to buy marijuana because they told Machado he would get a television for his trouble. 21RP 148-149.

A short time later Machado heard what sounded like breaking glass. He became impatient so he walked down the same road to look for his friends. 21RP 138. When he got to the house at the end of the road he saw the glass door was broken so he poked his head inside and asked what was going on. Big came out running with what looked like a black gun in his hand. Machado stopped him and Big said he was going back inside and downstairs to get Red. Then Red came upstairs carrying a silver or chrome gun. Machado told Red he was going to leave so Red went back downstairs presumably to get Big. 21RP 139-140. After a few minutes, Machado shouted for his friends and Red came back upstairs. Red said Big would catch up with them and Red and Machado left. 21RP 141.

As they were leaving Machado got a call from Volante and Khann and they asked if he would come back to the party and give him and Volante a ride home. Machado told them he would pick them up at the nearby North Seatac Park. When Machado arrived Khann and Volante got into the back seat. Machado then dropped Red off where he asked. 21RP 141-143. Machado, Volante and Khann were driving to Khann's house when Murphy stopped Machado's car. 21RP 144-145. On cross examination by the State, Machado admitted that in his initial statements to police he did not tell them about Red and Big. 22RP 150. Machado admitted he initially told police Khann and Volante were the ones that went to C.H.'s house with him and that Khann had the gun. 22RP 117-124; 23RP 112 (stipulation). He said he did not mention Red and Big to police because he was afraid of them. He implicated Khann and Volante because they were not involved so he did not believe they would get into trouble. 22RP 150. He decided to testify because he felt bad for implicating Khann and Volante and he wanted to clear things with them. 22RP 115.

Machado's father testified he retrieved Machado's Cadillac from the impound lot. He identified the hardware in the Cadillac as hardware he purchased at a yard sale. The clothes he identified as belonging to Machado's girlfriend. 22RP 158-160.

c. <u>Volante's Defense Case</u>

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