CONSOLIDATED NO. 67509-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V

KEVIN ISAJAH VOLANTE, MICHAEL MARTINEZ COPOL, aka JUAN MIGUEL MACHADO, and DARA KHANN,

Appellants.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JOHN ERLICK

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

KRISTIN A. RELYEA
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9000

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

The appellants argue that Deputy Murphy lacked a reasonable and articulable suspicion to stop them. They contend that Murphy unlawfully seized them based on their race and innocent behavior. The appellants' argument fails. Murphy lawfully stopped them based on their physical similarity to the suspects' description, suspicious conduct, close proximity to C.H.'s house where the crimes had occurred an hour and a half earlier, and in light of the seriousness of the crimes being investigated. Specific

and articulable facts exist that reasonably warranted the appellants' detention.

Relevant Facts.

At a pretrial hearing, Murphy testified that he heard dispatch report an armed robbery and rape in Skyway at 2:55 a.m. 6RP 60-63. Although dispatch initially broadcast that the suspect was an Asian male aged 25 to 30 years old, King County Sheriff's Deputy Mark Silverstein updated the description after speaking with C.H. at her home. 6RP 62-64, 111. Murphy heard Silverstein broadcast an updated suspect description of three "Asian Pacific Islander males," "dressed in all black," and carrying two handguns. 10 6RP 64-65.

At 3:46 a.m. Murphy started searching the area surrounding the Chevron station where he knew C.H.'s BMW had been abandoned a half hour earlier. 6RP 113, 121. Murphy drove "block to block" looking for suspects who matched the updated

Volante assigns error to the trial court's finding that Deputy Silverstein "broadcast" that C.H.'s stolen BMW was "likely associated with three Asian males." Assignment of Error Two. The parties stipulated that Silverstein, based on his report, would have testified that C.H. reported seeing two Asian males and a third male of unknown race, even though Murphy's memory was that Silverstein broadcast an updated suspect description of three "Asian Pacific Islander males." 6RP 64-65; 9RP 125-26. Further, the computer assisted dispatch (CAD) log of the incident reveals that Silverstein reported that the stolen BMW "may be associated with three Asian males." 10RP 17-19; Trial Ex. 211 (formerly Pretrial Ex. 2). Thus, substantial evidence exists in the record to support the trial court's finding.

description. 6RP 69, 112-13. Murphy did not see any foot or vehicle traffic until 4:13 a.m. when Copol drove by in a Cadillac. 6RP 74, 79-81. As the Cadillac passed within three to five feet of his patrol car, Murphy got a close look at the three "Pacific Islander Asian males" inside dressed in dark clothing. 11 6RP 72. All three occupants stared at Murphy as they drove by, raising his concern because "rarely" had he seen a car full of people all "staring, glued" to him. 6RP 122. Murphy first saw the Cadillac 10 blocks away from where C.H.'s BMW had been abandoned. 6RP 100.

Murphy immediately suspected that the occupants might have been involved in the rape, and turned around to follow them. 6RP 73, 115. The Cadillac "very quickly sped up" when Murphy turned around. 6RP 73. As soon as Murphy got within 100 feet of the Cadillac, it made an abrupt left-hand turn off of the main road and "duck[ed]" into a neighborhood while accelerating quickly. 6RP 76, 84, 168. Murphy's headlights illuminated the occupants who were "all moving around inside the car" and looking back at him. 6RP 77, 119. The Cadillac "rolled through" a stop sign and Murphy activated his emergency lights to stop it. 6RP 77. Murphy

¹¹ Although Murphy believed that all three occupants were "Pacific Islander Asian," Copol is actually Hispanic. 21RP 145.

estimated that 30 seconds elapsed between when he first saw the Cadillac and when he pulled it over. 6RP 79.

Although Murphy did not stop the vehicle until after it ran the stop sign, he testified that he would have stopped it regardless because the occupants matched the suspect description, acted suspiciously by staring at him and speeding up, at a time of night when there were "very, very, very few people out," and while in close proximity to C.H.'s house and the Chevron station. 12 6RP 99, 124.

Khann's defense investigator, Robert Edgmon, also testified at the suppression hearing. 9RP 18. Edgmon attempted to recreate the lighting and circumstances of Murphy's stop by following a 2010 Volkswagen Jetta at the same distance on the same streets at night. 9RP 30-31. Edgmon determined that it was "extremely difficult" to see what was happening inside the Jetta because of the car's "blinding" taillights, the darkness, and

Volante also assigns error to the trial court's finding that Copol's Cadillac was "the only vehicle that matched the 'vague vague' description provided by C.H." Assignment of Error Three. The court's written finding appears to summarize, incompletely, its oral finding, incorporated by reference, that the Cadillac "was the only vehicle Deputy Murphy had observed on the road . . . The occupants matched what Deputy Murphy described as the 'vague, vague description.'" 10RP 8 (emphasis added); VCP 63. The court's oral finding is supported by the record and should be read to clarify the court's incomplete written finding. See 6RP 72, 124 (Murphy testifying that the Cadillac was the only car on the road, and that the people inside "match[ed]" the suspects' physical description).

shadows. 9RP 31-32. Additionally, Edgmon stood on the corner where Murphy first saw the Cadillac and determined that it was "practically impossible" to see inside the vehicles driving by. 9RP 33. On cross-examination by the State, Edgmon admitted that he had never conducted such an experiment before, and that the experiment was on a different day and time of night than the actual stop. 9RP 37, 42.

The appellants moved to suppress the evidence against them, arguing that Murphy had unlawfully detained them. VCP 8-11; KCP 19-76; 9RP 157. The court denied the motion, finding that Murphy lawfully stopped the Cadillac based on the occupants' similar physical appearance to the suspects' description, suspicious behavior, close proximity to C.H.'s car within an hour of it being abandoned, and the early morning hour, and lack of other cars on the roadway. 10RP 14-15; VCP 62-63. The court found Murphy's testimony credible based on his demeanor, memory, and manner while testifying. 10RP 10; VCP 61.

Although the court also found Edgmon's testimony credible, the court gave it little weight because Edgmon lacked the same experience and training as Murphy who was a "trained observer" accustomed to observing vehicles traveling at night. 10RP 11;

VCP 61. Further, Edgmon conducted the experiment at a different time of night and day of the year, with different cars and no evidence of the similarities or differences in weather and lighting conditions. 10RP 11-12; VCP 61-62.

b. Murphy Lawfully Stopped The Appellants.

Both the state and federal constitution guard against unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Const. art. I, § 7; State v. Doughty, 170 Wn.2d 57, 61, 239 P.3d 573 (2010). Warrantless searches are unlawful unless a "jealously and carefully drawn" exception to the warrant requirement exists. Id. (quoting State v. Williams, 102 Wn.2d 733, 736, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984)). A Terry 13 stop is an exception that allows an officer to briefly stop and detain an individual without a warrant when the officer reasonably suspects that the person is engaged in criminal conduct. State v. Day, 161 Wn.2d 889, 895, 168 P.3d 1265 (2007).

To survive constitutional scrutiny, a <u>Terry</u> stop requires that an officer "point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion." 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968). Although probable cause is not required, there must

¹³ 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968).

be "a substantial possibility that criminal conduct has occurred or is about to occur." State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6, 726 P.2d 445 (1986).

When reviewing the merits of a <u>Terry</u> stop, the court must consider the "totality of the circumstances" presented to the investigating officer. <u>State v. Glover</u>, 116 Wn.2d 509, 514, 806 P.2d 760 (1991). The court examines the information provided to the officer, the officer's observations, and the inferences drawn by the officer based on training and experience. <u>Id.</u>; <u>United States v.</u> <u>Cortez</u>, 449 U.S. 411, 418, 101 S. Ct. 690, 66 L. 3d. 2d 621 (1981).

Following a suppression hearing, a trial court's findings of fact are reviewed for substantial evidence, while its conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 (1994); Day, 161 Wn.2d at 893. Unchallenged findings are verities on appeal. Hill, 123 Wn.2d at 644.

Considering the totality of the circumstances, the trial court properly denied the appellants' motion to suppress. Murphy articulated multiple specific facts which, taken together, reasonably warranted the detention. The appellants were nearly identical to the suspects in terms of race, gender, number, and clothing.

Compare 6RP 64-65 (describing the suspects as three "Asian"

Pacific Islander males" "dressed in black"), with 6RP 72 (describing the appellants as three "Pacific Islander Asian males" in "dark clothing"). The only discrepancy between the suspects' description and the appellants' appearance, was Copol's ethnicity, which Murphy mistakenly identified as "Pacific Islander Asian." 6RP 72; 21RP 145. Setting aside that singular inconsistency, the appellants closely matched the suspects' description.

The appellants also engaged in suspicious behavior. All of the appellants stared at Murphy, with their eyes "glued" to him, as they passed within feet of his marked patrol car. 6RP 72, 122.

Murphy testified that based on his experience working nights, "most people . . . don't look over at you," and that "rarely," if "ever" had he "seen a car with three or more people in it where all of them [were] just staring." 6RP 122. After Murphy started following them, the appellants "very quickly sped up" and tried to "duck" into a neighborhood, while looking back at him and "all moving around inside the car." 6RP 76-77, 168. The appellants' continuous and escalating suspicious behavior, from initially staring at Murphy to accelerating and trying to evade him, while shuffling around inside the Cadillac, provided Murphy with additional reason to suspect that the appellants were engaged in criminal activity.

The late hour, combined with the appellants' close proximity to the Chevron station and absence of any other people in the area, further raised Murphy's reasonable suspicion. Murphy first encountered the appellants at 4:13 a.m., after driving "block to block" for nearly half an hour looking for foot and vehicle traffic, and seeing no one. 6RP 74, 79, 81, 113. The appellants were 10 blocks away from where C.H.'s car had been abandoned, within half an hour of it being reported. 6RP 67, 100. Further, the appellants were a 10-minute drive from C.H.'s house. 6RP 67-68. The appellants' nearness in both time and place led Murphy to reasonably infer that there was a "substantial possibility" that criminal conduct had occurred. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d at 6.

Finally, the violent nature of the crimes being investigated – a gun point, home-invasion rape, robbery, and burglary – afforded Murphy more leeway in determining whether to stop the appellants. See State v. Thierry, 60 Wn. App. 445, 448, 803 P.2d 844 (1991) ("Officers may do far more if the suspect conduct endangers life or personal safety than if it does not."); State v.

¹⁴ First-degree rape is classified as a "serious violent" offense under the Sentencing Reform Act, while first-degree robbery and first-degree burglary are both considered "violent" offenses. RCW 9.94A.030(45)(vii), (54)(a)(i); RCW 9A.52.020(2)(a); RCW 9A.56.200(2)(a).

Randall, 73 Wn. App. 225, 229, 868 P.2d 207 (1994) (recognizing the nature of the suspected crime is an "important factor" in the <u>Terry</u> analysis).

C.H. reported being raped and robbed in her home, at gunpoint, by three strangers who stole her car and "left in an unknown direction." 6RP 60-63. Given the serious threat posed to the community by three armed suspects, at large and alleged to have committed serious and violent offenses, Murphy reasonably chose to stop the appellants who matched the physical description of the suspects, were acting suspiciously, and were in close proximity to where the crimes had occurred less than two hours after they happened.

The appellants argue that Murphy unlawfully stopped them based on their race and otherwise innocent behavior. The appellants are only partially correct. Murphy stopped the appellants based in part on his belief, albeit mistaken, that the appellants were "Pacific Islander Asian," consistent with the suspects' description.

6RP 64-65, 72. Murphy properly considered the appellants' race as one of the factors leading him to conclude that the appellants had engaged in criminal activity because it was consistent with the suspects' description. State v. Barber, 118 Wn.2d 335, 348, 823

P.2d 1068 (1992) (recognizing that "race and other physical attributes of a suspect" are relevant in forming a suspicion of criminal activity). There is no evidence to suggest that Murphy stopped the appellants based solely on their race, nor do any of the appellants make such a claim.

Rather, the appellants raise the issue of race as one of the multiple, specific facts articulated by Murphy that they argue is insufficient *alone* to support a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. The appellants' approach to this issue is fundamentally flawed because the critical issue is whether the "totality of the circumstances" reasonably warranted the appellants' detention.

Glover, 116 Wn.2d at 514 (emphasis added).

The United States Supreme Court has specifically rejected the "divide-and-conquer" approach taken by the appellants, which considers each fact in isolation and then concludes that the stop was unlawful because each individual fact is susceptible to an innocent explanation. See United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 274-75, 122 S. Ct. 744, 151 L. Ed. 2d 740 (2002) (criticizing the reviewing court for failing to consider the "totality of the circumstances," and for affording "no weight" to facts that may have an innocent explanation).

Since its inception, the <u>Terry</u> exception has recognized that a series of potentially innocent acts may collectively form the basis of a lawful detention. 392 U.S. at 22 (holding the defendant's "series of acts, each of them perhaps innocent in itself . . . taken together warranted further investigation."). In <u>Terry</u>, the officer observed the defendant and his companions repeatedly stroll back and forth, look into a store window, and talk with each other. <u>Id.</u>
Although each of the acts could have an innocent explanation, the Court held that their combined effect justified the officer's decision to stop the defendant and investigate further. <u>Id.</u>

The Supreme Court has repeatedly reaffirmed this principle, and even acknowledged that "Terry accepts the risk that officers may stop innocent people." Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 126, 120 S. Ct. 673, 145 L. Ed. 2d 570 (2000); see also Arvizu, 534 U.S. at 277-78 (holding that certain facts individually consistent with innocence collectively amounted to a reasonable suspicion); United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 9, 109 S. Ct. 1581, 104 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1989) (same).

Washington courts have followed suit and recognized that potentially innocent behavior may form the basis of a lawful detention. See State v. Anderson, 51 Wn. App. 775, 780, 755 P.2d

191 (1988) ("An officer is not required to rule out all possibilities of innocent behavior before initiating a brief stop and request for identification."); Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d at 6 (acknowledging that actions "consistent with noncriminal activity" may justify a "brief detention"); Thierry, 60 Wn. App. at 448 (holding officer was not required to ignore behavior consistent with the initial stages of a drive-by shooting, even though it might also be "innocuous").

The fact that certain individual aspects of the appellants' behavior might have had an innocent explanation, does not obviate the fact that the totality of the circumstances – the violent nature of the crimes reported, the appellants' physical similarity to the suspects, the proximity in time and place – justified Murphy's decision to briefly stop and detain the appellants.

None of the cases relied on by the appellants involve a similar factual scenario where a victim reported multiple violent felonies having occurred within the last hour and a half by armed suspects who matched the defendants' physical appearance, and were located within a 10-minute drive of the crime scene. ¹⁵ See

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